RECEIVED

Jul 21 2021

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Ralph K. Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge

---

Case No. 19-ALJ-17-0153-CC

2020-001542

---

Duke Energy Corporation..... Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue..... Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

---

Samantha K. Trencs (Bar No. 101882)  
Eric S. Tresh (*pro hac vice*)  
Maria M. Todorova (*pro hac vice*)  
Chris R. Lee (*pro hac vice*)  
EVERSHEDS SUTHERLAND (US) LLP  
700 Sixth Street, NW Suite 700  
Washington, DC 20001-3980  
Phone: (202) 383-0534  
samanthatrencs@eversheds-sutherland.com

## INTRODUCTION

This case is about whether the South Carolina Department of Revenue (“Department”) may retroactively deny the capital investment tax credit authorized by S.C. Code Ann. § 12-14-60 (the “Credit”) by limiting the credit to \$5 million, where the plain language of the statute allows taxpayers to claim up to \$5 million of Credit for “any taxable year,” and where the South Carolina Department of Revenue (“Department”) has advised taxpayers and the Legislature for over fifteen years that taxpayers can claim up to \$5 million of Credit annually.

Section 12-14-60 allows taxpayers to claim the Credit for “**any taxable year**” in which they make investments in qualified manufacturing and production property in South Carolina. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-14-60(A)(1). The amount of the Credit is computed by applying the Credit rate from the statute to the value of the investment. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-14-60(A)(2).<sup>1</sup> The Credit is applied against a taxpayer’s annual corporate income tax liability and may be carried forward for ten years from the tax year in which it is earned. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 12-14-60(A)(1), (D). For taxpayers like Duke Energy, which are subject to the State’s license tax under section 12-20-100, the amount of the Credit “allowed by this section” is limited to no more than \$5 million. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-14-60(G) (the “Credit Limitation”).

Since the Credit Limitation was enacted in 1998, the Department published written instructions on its tax form (Form TC-11) eleven different times, advising taxpayers like Duke Energy that they could claim up to \$5 million in Credit **per tax year**. Taxpayers were required to complete this form in order to claim the Credit. Duke Energy followed the statute, completed the Department’s tax form, and limited its Credit to \$5 million per year. The Department audited Duke

---

<sup>1</sup> Different rates apply depending on the type of investment as provided in the statute. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-14-60(A)(2).

Energy's Credits from 1998 to 2011 and confirmed that Duke Energy appropriately claimed no more than \$5 million in Credit per tax year.

In July 2014, a tax manager in the Department's policy group unilaterally decided that the Credit Limitation was not an annual limitation, and instead placed a lifetime limitation on the amount of Credit taxpayers like Duke Energy could claim. That decision invalidated the instructions the Department had provided to taxpayers for more than fifteen years. It also had the effect of retroactively denying Credits that had been earned by taxpayers in prior years. Nevertheless, at the direction of the tax manager, and without the knowledge or ascent of the Department's Director, General Counsel, or other leadership, the Credit form was changed to limit the amount of Credit taxpayers like Duke Energy could claim to \$5 million in total.

Although the Credit form was changed, the Department continued to advise the General Assembly that the Credit was limited to \$5 million annually. In 2017, as the Legislature was considering amending the Credit Limitation to clarify that the limitation was an annual limitation, the Department advised members of the Legislature and the South Carolina Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office ("RFA) that the clarifying amendment was consistent with the Department's longstanding interpretation of the Credit as an annual limitation. Based in part on the Department's input and following its own independent review, the RFA advised the General Assembly that the clarifying amendment would have no fiscal impact because it would not change the law or the Department's practices.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> As discussed below, senior leadership at the Department later sent a memorandum to the General Assembly urging them not to enact the proposed clarifying amendment to the Credit Limitation. As part of this memorandum, the Department disclosed confidential information regarding Duke Energy's tax returns.

Notwithstanding its longstanding interpretation of the Credit Limitation, its prior instructions to taxpayers, its audit practices, or its advice to the General Assembly and the RFA, the Department became entrenched in its newfound position that the Credit Limitation was a lifetime limitation. As a result, in 2019, the Department **retroactively** denied Duke Energy's Credits for the 2010 through 2014 tax years, simply claiming that it had changed its interpretation of the Credit statute.

Duke Energy appealed the denial to the Administrative Law Court ("ALC") where both the Department and Duke Energy claimed that the Credit statute had a plain meaning. The primary difference in the parties' reading of the statute related to whether the Credit Limitation should be interpreted by reference to the entire section 12-14-60, which states that the Credit is available for "any taxable year," as Duke Energy argued, or whether subsection (G) of section 12-14-60 should be read in isolation, as the Department argued. The parties also disagreed regarding the import of the Department's longstanding interpretation of the Credit Limitation as an annual limitation, the Legislature's acquiescence to that interpretation, and the ability of the Department to retroactively deny the Credit under the circumstances of this case.

In its Order, the ALC agreed that the statute should be construed as a whole, but concluded that because subsection (G) was ambiguous, it must be construed against Duke Energy. In so doing, the ALC effectively disregarded subsection (A) of the Credit statute, which provides a Credit for "any taxable year," and the first clause of subsection (G), which creates the Credit Limitation for the annual "credit allowed by this section."

The ALC also failed to consider the legislative intent and purpose of the Credit to encourage "retention and expansion of existing businesses," and instead mechanically accepted the Department's reading of subsection (G) as a \$5 million lifetime limitation. S.C. Code Ann. §

12-14-20. The ALC gave no weight to the Department's own longstanding interpretation of the statute, its public, written guidance to taxpayers, and its written communications with the General Assembly, all revealing that for over fifteen years the Department applied the Credit Limitation as an annual limitation.

The ALC's Order should be reversed for four reasons. *First*, the ALC erred in concluding that the application of the Credit Limitation statute was ambiguous. The ALC failed to read subsection (G) in the context of section 12-14-60 as a whole, and thus failed to harmonize subsections (A) and (G) of the statute. Subsection (G) states that the "credit allowed by this section" is limited to \$5 million. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-14-60(G). The phrase "credit allowed by this section" in subsection (G) refers to the Credit allowed for "any taxable year" under subsection (A). When these subsections are read together, it is clear that subsection (G) limits only the amount of Credit a taxpayer subject to the license tax can claim "for any taxable year." It does not impose a lifetime limit on the amount of Credit a taxpayer can claim.

*Second*, the ALC erred by misapplying the well-established doctrine of legislative acquiescence, which creates a strong presumption that a uniform construction of a statute for many years in administrative practice has the approval of the Legislature and will not be overturned without cogent reasons. This case presents a textbook case of legislative acquiescence. Over the course of fifteen years, the Department instructed taxpayers that the Credit Limitation was an annual limitation eleven different times. It audited taxpayers like Duke Energy and applied the Credit Limitation as an annual limitation, and it informed members of the General Assembly and the RFA that the Credit Limitation was an annual limitation. The Legislature was aware of the Department's practice and although it amended the Credit statute for other purposes, it made no changes to the Credit Limitation, thereby acquiescing to the Department's interpretation of the

statute. The Department presented no reasons, let alone cogent reasons, for overturning legislative ascent to its interpretation.

*Third*, the ALC erred by resolving any perceived ambiguities in the Credit Limitation statute in favor of the Department. The ALC ignored the purpose of the Credit statute to incent “retention and expansion of existing businesses” in South Carolina and accepted the Department’s interpretation of the Credit Limitation frustrating its legislative purpose. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-14-20. The ALC failed to consider that lifetime limitations on tax credits are almost always related to investments in specific facilities or projects, while credit limitations that apply to individual taxpayers (such as the Credit Limitation at issue in this case) are typically annual limitations. The ALC also misapplied the strict construction principle of statutory construction. While tax credit statutes are generally construed against taxpayers, strict construction does not require a court to search for an interpretation in the Department’s favor or accept a position that defeats legislative intent or leads to an absurd result.

*Fourth*, the ALC erred in allowing the Department to retroactively change its longstanding position, without a change in the law, without following the rulemaking process, and without giving notice to taxpayers. This retroactive denial of the Credit without any notice or rulemaking violates the South Carolina Taxpayer Bill of Rights, South Carolina’s rulemaking laws, and established principles of equity, and raises significant due process concerns.

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. Whether the ALC erred by disregarding the plain language of section 12-14-60 and concluding that subsection 12-14-60(G) was ambiguous.

- II. Whether the ALC erred by disregarding the Legislature’s acquiescence to the Department’s longstanding interpretation of the Credit Limitation as an annual limitation.
- III. Whether the ALC erred by concluding that any ambiguity in the Credit Limitation subsection should be automatically read in favor of the Department as requiring an application of the Credit Limitation as a lifetime limitation.
- IV. Whether the ALC erred by allowing the Department to retroactively deny a tax credit that Duke Energy earned from significant investments in South Carolina and in reliance on the Department’s longstanding written interpretation of the Credit statute.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Duke Energy appeals an Order on Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment (“Order”) issued by the ALC holding that Duke Energy’s investment tax Credit is limited to \$5 million in total for all tax years pursuant to section 12-14-60(G).

On July 19, 2018, the Department issued a Notice of Adjustment reducing Duke’s Energy’s Credits by \$19,850,727 for the 2010 through 2014 tax years (“Tax Years at Issue”). (R. p. 6; R. pp. 1152-1153.) Duke Energy timely protested the adjustments on October 16, 2018. (R. p. 7; R. pp. 1152-1153; R. pp. 1154-1175.) On April 26, 2019, the Department issued a Department Determination affirming its prior Credit adjustments. (R. pp. 1143-1151.) Duke Energy timely requested a contested case hearing on May 24, 2019 in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 12-60-460. (R. p. 7; R. pp. 1176-1206.)

On July 31, 2020, both parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment. (R. p. 1; R. pp. 30-65; R. pp. 66-83.) The ALC held a hearing on the cross-motions on September 24, 2020 (R. p. 1) and issued the Order on October 27, 2020.

Duke Energy timely filed a Notice of Appeal on November 24, 2020. On December 22, 2020, Duke Energy filed a Motion for Extension of time to file its initial brief until February 10, 2021 (R. pp. 165-167), which was granted by this Court on December 29, 2020. (R. p. 27.)

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### I. Background on Section 12-14-60

Section 12-14-60 is part of the Economic Impact Zone Community Development Act of 1995, 1995 S.C. Act No. 25, § 2 (the “1995 Act”). (R. p. 10.) The purpose of this Act is to incentivize capital investment in South Carolina by encouraging “the formation of new businesses and the retention and expansion of existing businesses” and “to promote meaningful employment.” S.C. Code Ann. § 12-14-20; (R. p. 10).

The Credit was first enacted in 1995 when the General Assembly passed the 1995 Act, which was codified in S.C. Code Ann. § 12-14-10 *et seq.* The Credit was originally limited to businesses making qualified investments in designated “economic impact zones” in South Carolina but the statute did not limit the amount of the Credit. In 1996, the Credit was broadened by expanding the definition of “economic impact zone.” 1996 S.C. Act No. 231, § 10A (amending S.C. Code § 12-14-30 (1996)). A year later, the General Assembly broadened the Credit statute again allowing any unused Credit to be carried forward for ten years measured from each respective tax year. 1997 S.C. Act No. 151.

Of particular relevance to this case, section 12-14-60 was amended twice again in 1998. On June 30, 1998, the South Carolina General Assembly added new subsection (G), which provided:

The credit allowed by this section for investments made after June 30, 1998, is limited to no more than one million dollars for any entity subject to the license tax as provided in Section 12-30-100.

1998 S.C. Act No. 419, pt. II, § 49II.B; S.C. Code Ann. § 12-14-60(G) (1998) (effective July 1, 1998). Two months later, on August 31, 1998, the General Assembly increased the \$1 million credit limitation to \$5 million:

The credit allowed by this section for investments made after June 30, 1998, is limited to no more than five million dollars for an entity subject to the license tax as provided in Section 12-20-100.

1998 S.C. Act No. 442; S.C. Code Ann. § 12-14-60(H) (1998) (effective August 31, 1998) (“1998 Act”).<sup>3</sup>

Finally, section 12-14-60 was broadened two more times. In 2005, the General Assembly added an indefinite Credit carryforward for qualifying taxpayers. 2005 S.C. Act No. 113, § 1; S.C. Code § 12-14-60(D)(2) (2005) (effective June 1, 2005). And in 2010, the South Carolina Economic Development Competitiveness Act of 2010 (the “2010 Act”) expanded the Credit to apply to the entire state, not just specific economic impact zones. 2010 S.C. Act No. 290, § 21.

As a result of the changes in the 2010 Act, the phrase “economic impact zone” was deleted from subsection (A)(1). As such, during the 2010 tax year at issue in this case, subsection (A)(1) provided:

There is allowed an economic impact zone investment tax credit against the tax imposed pursuant to Chapter 6 [Income Tax Act] of this title **for any taxable year** in which the taxpayer places in service economic impact zone qualified manufacturing and productive equipment property.

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-14-60(A)(1) (2010) (emphasis added). After the 2010 Act, effective for the 2011 through 2014 tax years at issue in this matter, subsection (A)(1) read:

There is allowed an investment tax credit against the tax imposed pursuant to Chapter 6 [Income Tax Act] of this title **for any taxable**

---

<sup>3</sup> In 2010, Subsection H was recodified as Subsection G which is referred to as the Credit Limitation in this brief.

**year** in which the taxpayer places in service qualified manufacturing and productive equipment property.

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-14-60(A)(1) (emphasis added).

## **II. The Department’s longstanding interpretation of section 12-14-60**

### **A. The Department’s instructions to taxpayers**

From the time the Credit was enacted in 1998 until July 2014, the Department published a tax form (Form TC-11, the “Credit Form”) instructing taxpayers that they were required to apply the Credit Limitation annually. (R. p. 281, lines 9-18, p. 282, line 4 – p. 283, line 1; R. p. 295, lines 4-7, p. 296, lines 12-15; R. p. 253, lines 3-5; R. p. 307, line 21 – p. 308, line 5; R. pp. 678-700.)<sup>4</sup> The Credit Form stated that it “**must** be completed and filed with the income tax return in order to claim an investment tax credit . . . .” (R. pp. 674-713 (emphasis added).)<sup>5</sup>

In 1998, the Department amended the Credit Form twice to include the General Assembly’s enactment of the Credit Limitation, initially as a one-million-dollar limitation and subsequently as a five-million-dollar limitation. (R. pp. 678-682.) From 1998 to 2014, the Department amended the Credit Form eleven times. In each case, the Department provided step-by-step instructions and a formula requiring taxpayers to apply the Credit Limitation **for each tax year**.<sup>6</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> The Credit Form was first published in 1995. Until 1998, there was no limitation on the amount of Credit a taxpayer could claim.

<sup>5</sup> Mr. Timothy Donovan, a former nonresident audit manager and manager of nexus and discovery who retired in August 2018 after 28 years with the Department, testified that taxpayers were required to complete Form SC SCH. TC-11 in order to be allowed the Credit. (R. p. 280, lines 9-14.)

<sup>6</sup> The Credit Form in effect until July 2014 contained the following instructions and formula requiring an annual application of the Credit Limitation:

Depositions in this case confirmed that the Department drafted and published tax forms, including the Credit Form, to ensure the proper application of the laws as intended by the General Assembly. (R. p. 294, lines 7-9; R. p. 254, lines 8-10.) Deposition testimony further proved that the Department intended taxpayers, including Duke Energy, to rely on its forms in computing their South Carolina tax liability. (R. p. 294, lines 11-13.)<sup>7</sup> These facts are not in dispute.

**B. The Department’s original audit of Duke Energy’s Credits**

In 2012, the Department audited Duke Energy’s tax returns for the tax years 2008 through 2011. As part of this audit, the Department reviewed Duke Energy’s Credit calculations from 1998 through 2011 applying the Credit Limitation on an annual basis and agreed that Duke Energy’s properly applied the Credit Limitation annually.

The Department’s audit report stated that the “maximum [capital investment tax] credits” **for each tax year** was \$5 million. And the report applied the Credit Limitation annually to each of the tax years. (R. p. 751.) For example, for the 2011 tax year, Duke Energy’s investments in the State resulted in a Credit of \$6,130,395, which the Department’s Audit Schedule C limited to \$5 million after applying the Credit Limitation. In addition, the Department agreed that Duke Energy

	(1) Basis	(2) Credit Percentage	(3) Credit Amount (column 1 x column 2)
1. Three-year Property	_____	0.5%	1. _____
2. Five-year Property	_____	1.0%	2. _____
3. Seven-year Property	_____	1.5%	3. _____
4. Ten-year Property	_____	2.0%	4. _____
5. Fifteen-year Property or greater	_____	2.5%	5. _____
6. Total of lines 1 through 5			6. _____
7. Maximum Credit (Form SC1120U filers)			7. <u>\$5,000,000</u>
8. Carryover of unused credits from 1997 and later			8. _____
9. Credit - Total of lines 6 and 8			9. _____

**Caution:** SC1120U filers add the **lesser** of lines 6 or 7 to line 8

<sup>7</sup> See also guidance published by the Department instructing taxpayers that “[t]he credit is claimed on Form TC-11.” (R. p. 447.)

could claim \$5 million in credit for 2011 alone, even though Duke Energy claimed Credits in prior tax years. (R. p. 751.)

The Department's auditor, one of the most experienced and technically competent auditors, testified that his understanding of the Department's position at the time of the audit was that the Credit Limitation was an annual limitation and not a lifetime limitation. (R. p. 266, lines 8-10, p. 268, lines 11-20, p. 271, lines 12-17, p. 277, lines 9-12.) The Department now claims this audit was simply a mistake. There is no dispute about these facts.

### **C. The Department's 2014 change to the Credit Form**

After more than fifteen years of applying the Credit Limitation on an annual basis, in July 2014, the Department suddenly changed course. In 2014, Ms. Jerilynn VanStory, a tax manager in the Department's policy group, decided that the Credit Limitation should be a lifetime limitation. (R. p. 799.) Ms. VanStory testified in this case that the reason she changed the Department's longstanding interpretation was that she believed the Credit was too broad. (R. p. 318, line 1-p. 319, line 14.) Ms. VanStory did not discuss her views about the Credit or her new opinion about the Credit Limitation with the Department's Director, Legal Counsel, or other Department leadership. (R. p. 305, line 12-p. 306, line 5, p. 309, lines 5-24, p. 310, line 21-p. 311, line 25.)

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