RECEIVED

Jul 21 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Ralph King Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 19-ALJ-17-0153-CC
Appellate Case No. 2020-001542

Duke Energy Corporation, Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue, Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

C. Anthony Harris, Jr. (Bar No. 2745)
Associate Counsel
Jason P. Luther (Bar No. 78021)
Chief Legal Officer
P.O. Box 12265
Columbia, SC 29211-9979
Phone: 803-898-5278

Attorneys for Respondent
South Carolina Department of Revenue

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

ARGUMENTS

In an appeal from the decision of an administrative agency, the APA provides the appropriate standard of review. *Olson v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control*, 379 S.C. 57, 63, 663 S.E.2d 497, 500-501 (Ct. App. 2008); *Turner v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control*, 377 S.C. 540, 544, 661 S.E.2d 118, 120 (Ct. App. 2008); *Clark v. Aiken County Gov’t*, 366 S.C. 102, 107, 620 S.E.2d 99, 101 (Ct. App. 2005). S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B) (Supp. 2013) provides the applicable standard, and sets forth the limitations upon which this Court may reverse or modify the ALC’s decision:

- (D) The review of the administrative law judge’s order must be confined to the record. The reviewing tribunal may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the Appellant has been prejudiced because of the finding, conclusion, or decision is:
 - (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
 - (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
 - (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
 - (d) affected by other error of law;
 - (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
 - (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

The issue in this case is a legal one and turns on the rules of statutory construction. The cardinal rule employed by South Carolina Courts in statutory construction is to first ascertain the plain meaning of the language in the statute. “It is axiomatic that statutory interpretation begins (and often ends) with the text of the statute in question.” *Smith v. Norman K. Tiffany*, 419 S.C. 548, 556, 799 S.E.2d

479, 587 (2017). “The text of a statute as drafted by the legislature is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will.” *Hodges v. John S. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). “The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature.” *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville County Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011) (quoting *Sloan v. Hardee*, 371 S.C. 495, 498, 640 S.E.2d 457, 459 (2007)). “In doing so, we must give the words found in the statute their ‘plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute’s operation.’” *Id.* at 74, 716 S.E.2d at 877 (quoting *Sloan*, 371 S.C. at 499, 640 S.E.2d at 459). “Thus if the words are unambiguous, we must apply their literal meaning.” *Id.* at 67, 716 S.E.2d at 881 (quoting *Sloan*, 371 S.C. at 498, 640 S.E.2d at 459). “If a statute is clear and explicit in its language, then there is no need to resort to statutory interpretation or legislative intent to determine its meaning.” *Timmons v. S.C. Tricentennial Commission*, 254 S.C. 378, 401, 175 S.E.2d 805, 817 (1970).

Because § 12-14-60 provides a tax credit, which is a legislatively-created special circumstance that lessens the overall tax burden of Duke, South Carolina Courts have long held that the statutory tax reduction is a matter of legislative grace and **must be strictly construed against the taxpayer**. “The language of a tax exemption statute must be given its plain, ordinary meaning and must be strictly construed against the claimed exemption.” *TNS Mills, Inc. v. South Carolina Dep’t of Revenue*, 331 S.C. 611, 620, 503 S.E.2d 471, 476 (1998); *Southeastern-Kusan, Inc. v. South Carolina Tax Comm’n*, 276 S.C. 487, 489, 280 S.E.2d 57, 58 (1981) (“As a general rule, tax exemption statutes must be strictly construed against the taxpayer.”); *Thayer v. S.C. Tax Comm’n*, 307 S.C. 6, 413 S.E.2d 810 (1992); *Home Medical Systems, Inc. v. South Carolina Department of Revenue*, 382 S.C. 556, 677 S.E.2d 582 (2009) (“a statutory tax exemption must be strictly construed against the taxpayer”). The taxpayer bears the burden of bringing itself squarely within the statute authorizing the exemption. *M. Lowenstein & Sons, Inc v. S.C.*

Tax Comm'n, 277 S.C. 561, 290 S.E.2d 812 (1982); cf. *SCANA Corp. and Subsidiaries v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 384 S.C. 388, 683 S.E.2d 468 (2009) (Beatty J., dissenting) (“[I]n cases involving a tax deduction, any ambiguity is strictly resolved against the taxpayer.”) “It has been said on numerous occasions by our Courts that in order for a taxpayer to avail himself of a deduction in the calculation of a tax, the taxpayer must bring himself squarely within the terms of that statute authorizing such deduction.” *Avco Corp. v. Robert C. Wasson, Chairman, et al.*, 267 S.C. 581, 588, 230 S.E.2d 614, 617 (1976).

I. THE ALC CORRECTLY RULED THAT DUKE IS LIMITED TO NO MORE THAN FIVE MILION DOLLARS IN INVESTMENT TAX CREDIT UNDER § 12-14-60.

A. The Administrative Law Court’s decision.

The ALC determined the limitation for investment tax credit as described in § 12-14-60 is a lifetime limitation. Stated differently, the aggregate of all tax credit which may be claimed by Duke under § 12-14-60 is limited to five million dollars. The ALC reached its decision after properly applying rules of statutory construction, and concluded the limitation of the tax credit was ambiguous and must be strictly construed against Duke. (R. p. 20; ALC Order, p. 16.) The Department argued before the ALC, and respectfully asserts in this appeal, that the plain language of § 12-14-60 limits Duke to no more than five million dollars in investment tax credit on a lifetime basis. Nevertheless, under either theory of statutory construction, Duke is limited no more than five million dollars on a lifetime basis and the decision of the ALC should be affirmed.

B. The plain language of § 12-14-60 is clear and unambiguous and limits Duke to no more than five million dollars in tax credit on a lifetime basis.

1. The Department's interpretation is consistent with the plain language of § 12-14-60.

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-14-60(A)(1) (2014) provides:

SECTION 12-14-60. Investment tax credit.

(A)(1) There is allowed an investment tax credit against the tax imposed pursuant to Chapter 6 of this title for any taxable year in which the taxpayer places in service qualified manufacturing and productive equipment property.

Section 12-14-60(A)(1). Any unused tax credit may be carried forward for ten years from the close of the tax year in which the credit was earned under § 12-14-60(D)(1). The lifetime limitation of \$5,000,000 is imposed by § 12-14-60(G) which reads:

[t]he credit allowed by this section for investments made after June 30, 1998, is **limited to no more than five million dollars for an entity subject to the license tax as provided by Section 12-20-100.**

Section 12-14-60(G) (emphasis added). S.C. Code Ann. § 12-20-100 (2014) imposes a license tax on utilities, the type of business in which Duke is engaged. (R. p. 6; ALC Order, p. 2.) Therefore, the limitation imposed by § 12-14-60(G) applies to the amount of credit which may be claimed by Duke.

The controlling statute is § 12-14-60 and the pertinent language of the applicable subsections defines the time period, duration and limitation for the allowable tax credit. Section 12-14-60(A)(1) provides the time period for which the credit may be taken (any taxable year in which the taxpayer places in service qualified equipment); § 12-14-60(D)(1) defines the duration over which the credit may be taken (the taxpayer may carry forward unused credit for a period of ten years from the close of the tax year in which the credit was earned); and § 12-14-60(G) sets forth the limitation on the total amount of credit a taxpayer may claim (the credit allowed by this section is limited to no more than five million dollars). The statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, and no other meaning should be imposed. *SCANA Corp.*, 384 S.C. 388, 391, 683 S.E.2d 468, 469 (2009) (construing S.C. Code Ann. § 12-14-60(D) (2014)).

Section 12-14-60(G) limits the amount of the credit. The total amount of the credit for which Duke is eligible is "no more than five million dollars." No other subsection of the statute explains or

contradicts the limitation imposed. This is a concise and definite phrase which clearly conveys the intent of the General Assembly. Moreover, when imposing the credit limitation in subsection (G), the General Assembly established a clear marker that an “entity” (such as Duke) is limited to “no more than five million dollars” for “investments made after June 30, 1998.” The plain language in subsection (G) clearly reflects the General Assembly’s intention to limit the credit, on a global basis, for all “investments” (not just a single investment). Therefore, the plain and unambiguous language of § 12-14-60(G) limits Duke to a maximum of five million dollars in tax credit, and no other meaning is evident from the General Assembly.

When the subsections are read together as a whole, the clear meaning of the language is that the statute provides a lifetime limit of five million dollars in tax credit, which may be used in a single tax year, earned over multiple tax years or carried forward if unused over a period of ten years.

2. The title to 1998 S.C. Act No. 419 and 1998 S.C. Act No. 442 reaffirms the lifetime credit limitation expressed in § 12-14-60(G).

The title to the Act amending the statute further bolsters the plain language in § 12-14-60(G) which limits the use of the credit on a lifetime basis. Unlike Duke’s reliance on unenacted legislation and an e-mail from a member of Senate staff, our Courts have held that the title is part of an Act and may be considered when construing legislative intent. *Alyce B. McInnis v. Estate of E.C. McInnis, Jr.*, 348 S.C. 585, 560 S.E.2d 632 (Ct. App. 2002); *Nathaniel Garner v. William S. Houck, Jr.*, 312 S.C. 481; 435 S.E.2d 847 (1993). “It is proper to consider the title or caption of an act in aid of construction to show the intent of the legislature.” *Lindsay v. S. Farm Bureau Cas. Ins. Co.*, 258 S.C. 272, 277 188 S.E.2d 374, 376 (1972), citing *Univ. of S. Carolina v. Elliott*, 248 S.C. 218, 221, 149 S.E.2d 433, 434 (1966). Outside of the language of § 12-14-60 itself, the title to the act imposing the credit limitation is the text most closely related to the statute.

The statute in question was first enacted in 1995 and has been amended on several occasions since. *See 1995 S.C. Act No. 25* (Economic Impact Zone Community Development Act of 1995). In 1998 the statute was amended and for the first time the General Assembly included language to specifically limit the credit for an entity subject to the license tax under § 12-20-100, to which the taxpayer, as a utility company, is subject. *See 1998 S.C. Act No. 419; See 1998 S.C. Act No. 442*. During the 1998 legislative session, the General Assembly passed *S.C. Act No. 419* to limit the credit for utility companies to one million dollars; later that same session, *S.C. Act No. 442* was passed to increase the credit to five million dollars. However, under both acts, the title clearly states that its purpose is “[t]o limit the **total credit** allowed a utility for investments made after June 30, 1998.” *See 1998 S.C. Act No. 419; 1998 S.C. Act No. 442*. (Emphasis added).

The word “total” is not defined in § 12-14-60 and, therefore, it must be given its plain and ordinary meaning. *See Hitachi Data Sys. Corp. v. Leatherman*, 309 S.C. 174, 178, 420 S.E.2d 843, 846 (1992). “Total” is defined as “compromising or constituting a whole: ENTIRE.” *See Merriam-Webster* (April 13, 2021, 10:40 a.m.), <https://merriam-webster.com/dictionary/total>. Here, total is an adjective used to modify “credit” to indicate the whole or entire credit is limited to \$5,000,000. It is entirely consistent with the phrase “no more than five million dollars” used by the General Assembly in the text of § 12-14-60(G).

If there is any resort to matters outside the plain text of the statute, the title to the Act amending § 12-14-60 is a clear indication of the legislative intent of subsection (G). The plain and unambiguous language in § 12-14-60(G) is consistent with, and bolstered by, the plain and unambiguous language in the title to the 1998 amendment, and further evinces the General Assembly’s clear intent to **limit the total credit a taxpayer (like Duke) may claim after June 30, 1998 to five million dollars on a lifetime basis**.

3. Duke misinterprets the credit limitation imposed by § 12-14-60(G).

Throughout its argument before the ALC and this Court, Duke has focused on the phrase “any taxable year” (§ 12-14-60(A)(1)) in its construction of the meaning of the credit limitation. In furtherance of its argument, Duke asserts that the phrase “any taxable year” reflects the intention of the General Assembly to impose an annual limitation on the amount of credit which it may claim because the credit is a deduction on its annual corporate tax return. Duke argues that because corporate income tax is imposed annually under S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-530 (2014), by extension the credit limitation under § 12-14-60 is allowed on a forever annual basis. Duke conflates subtractions from income tax on a tax return with the plain meaning of the tax credit limitation imposed in § 12-14-60(G). In considering this argument, the ALC noted:

However, again, the question for this Court is not the treatment of the taxpayers who are typically entitled to annually claim exemptions under section 12-14-60, but the treatment of taxpayers who are subject to the license tax as provided in section 12-20-100. In the instance of those subject to the license tax, subsection 12-14-60(G) addresses the tax credit not from the perspective of how it is earned (annually) or when it is taken (annually), **but the extent to which it can be utilized**, similar to how the carryforward is taken annually but its utilization is capped at ten years (generally). *See* § 12-14-16(D). (Emphasis added).

(R. p. 14; ALC Order, p. 10.)

Duke argues that the phrase “any taxable year” in subsection (A)(1) and the carry forward provision in (D)(1) are consistent with the annual requirement to file a corporate income tax return and, therefore, the limitation in subsection (G) should be interpreted as annual. Similarly, according to Duke the limitation imposed in subsection (G) is annual because subsection (A)(2) addresses the formula used to calculate the amount of credit to be allowed in a tax year. Nevertheless, the ALC correctly determined that although components of § 12-14-60 allow the credit to be taken annually, or calculated and carried forward annually, nothing changes the clear lifetime limitation imposed by

subsection (G). Moreover, although from a timing standpoint the statute allows the credit for any taxable year, this does not make the limitation expressed in subsection (G) annual. Duke's analysis of the credit limitation ignores the clear marker in subsection (G) which establishes that Duke is allowed "no more than five million dollars" for all "investments" made after June 30, 1998. Duke does not and cannot refute plain meaning of "*no more than five million dollars*" in § 12-14-60(G), or "*to limit the total credit allowed a utility*" as expressed in 1998 S.C. Act No. 419 and 1998 S.C. Act No. 442. This language clearly reflects the intent of the General Assembly to limit the tax credit to five million dollars under any circumstance.

The Department has allowed Duke to claim the tax credit "for any taxable year" as part of its annual corporate income tax return, and likewise, it has allowed Duke to carry forward unused credit under § 12-14-60(D)(1), subject to the lifetime limitation imposed by subsection (G). (R. pp. 6-7; ALC Order, pp. 2-3.) That a tax credit may be claimed on an annual return would never result in a credit being allowed ad infinitum as Duke argues. While income tax returns must be filed annually, and certain subtractions from income tax claimed annually, it is against all logic that all tax credits are always allowed to be computed annually without limitation. The amount and duration of any tax credit is governed by the language of the statute allowing the credit. In this case, the limitation on the tax credit is not determined by the fact that the credit is taken as part of a requirement to annually file a tax return, but rather by subsection (G) which imposes the lifetime limitation.

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